I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER. 

Petitioner Olympia School District (the District) is seeking review 

of the Court of Appeals decision (Judge Lee dissenting) filed in this cause. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The District seeks review of the unpublished Court of Appeals 

(Div. H) decision filed on December 10, 20 14; Gutierrez v. Olympia 

School Dist., 2014 WL 6984636 (20 14 ). The District filed a timely 

Motion to Publish the decision. The District's Motion to Publish was 

denied on January 9, 2015. 

One ofthe central disputes in this case was how often Gary Shafer 

rode along on the school bus on which NL was a passenger. All of the 

adult percipient witnesses testified that he rode the school bus three times 

or less. Respondent argued at trial that Mr. Shafer rode the school bus 

more often than three times and that the District should have been 

suspicious of his motives because of the number of times he rode the 

school bus. The only evidence Respondent produced on this point was the 

inadmissible testimony of NL that she believed he had ridden the school 

bus around 20 times; the experts' repetition of that testimony; and the 

testimony ofthe mother ofNL that NL told her Mr. Shafer rode the school 

bus two times a week. All three judges of the Court of Appeals agreed 

that the trial judge had erroneously admitted into evidence the statements 

of NL and her mother. 1 In addition, aii three judges agreed that the trial 

1 The Court of Appeals panel was unanimous in concluding that evidence of 
Shafer's convictions related to other victims, Shafer's conviction for possession 
of child pornography, the admission of the videotaped testimony ofN.L., and the 
admission of the hearsay statements made to N.L. 's mother were inadmissible. 
Judge Lee also concluded in her dissent that the admission of the testimony of 
Det. Cheryl Stines of what another child witness (VV) told her and the experts 
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judge erroneously admitted into evidence Gary Shafer's convictions of 

molesting two other students and ofpossessing child pornography. Two 

members of the Court of Appeals decided that the wrongfully admitted 

evidence did not materially affect the jury's verdict and that the experts' 

repetition of NL's inadmissible testimony was proper. Judge Lee filed a 

strong dissent concluding that all of the questioned evidence was 

improperly admitted and that the improperly admitted evidence 

prejudicially affected the jury verdict. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW. 

(1) Did the Court of Appeals err when it concluded that while the trial 
court erroneously allowed the inadmissible video evidence of a 6-
year-o/d child witness's out-of-court statement that alleged 
perpetrator Gary Shafer, a school district employee, rode the 
school bus with her 20 times; and erroneously allowed the 
inadmissible evidence of the child's mother that NL. told her that 
Gary Shafer "always rode the bus" and "rode the bus two times a 
week for a while"; and erroneously allowed the inadmissible 
evidence of Gary Shafer's convictions for molesting other 
children; and erroneously allowed the inadmissible evidence of 
Gary Shafer's conviction of possessing child pornography, the 
trial court's errors were harmless and did not affect the jury's 
verdict? 

(2) Did the Court of Appeals err when it a.ffirmed the trial court's 
ruling permitting expert witnesses Mr. McGoey and Dr. Whitehall 
to relate to the jury and to vouch for the child witness NL. 's 
testimony that Gary Shafer rode the school bus ''twenty times?" 

(3) Did the Court of Appeals err ·when it affirmed the trial cow1 's 
ruling permitting Detective Cheryl Stines to testily about what 
another child witness (VV) told her happened to her on the school 
bus? 

testimony relating and vouching for N.L's inadmissible testimony were also error 
making the majority's conclusion of harmless error even more unlikely. 
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IV. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

NL was bam Dec. 10, 2004. RP 1056. On Sept. 1, 2010, she 

began afternoon kindergarten at Centennial Elementary School in the 

Olympia School District (OSD) RP 410-12, 1058-59; Ex. 127. NL rode 

the school bus to school, and was driven home by her mother, Abbigail 

Gutierrez, RP 73-74, 1058-59. Mario Paz was NL's bus driver. RP 57-58, 

1 059. Paz had been driving schoo I buses for OSD for about 16 years. RP 

55, 73. 

NL sometimes talked at home about other children who rode the 

school bus, but she never mentioned a Gary. RP 1092-94. Ms. Gutierrez 

never noticed another man on the school bus, but thinks she did once see a 

woman on the school bus. RP 1063, 1079-80, 1092. 

On Dec. 30, 20 I 0, a Friday, NL told her mother "Gary" had 

touched her inappropriately on the school bus. RP 1064. Ms. Gutierrez 

called 911 and gave a report over the phone. RP 1 064-65. The next day 

Detective Cheryl Stines called Ms. Gutierrez and arranged to interview 

NL at the Sheriffs office on the morning of Jan. 4, 2011. RP 191, 1065. 

According to Detective Stines, NL told her she had been touched by a 

"grown-up boy named Gary" who was a "helper" on the school bus. RP 

194. NL identified a picture of Gary Shafer as the "Gary" who had ridden 

on the school bus. RP 195. 

Shafer began driving Olympia School District (OSD) school buses 

in 2005. In 2010, he was driving a middle school bus route mornings and 

afternoons. He would sometimes "ride along" on mid-day routes to learn 

the route or assist the driver. To "ride along" on a route, the driver 

needed the permission of Fred Stanley, OS D's transportation director. RP 

591, 1155, 1234, 1279. Mr. Stanley encouraged and readily granted ride-
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along requests. RP 502-03, 533, 562, 572, 589-91. Riding along was not 

unusual either within OSD or in other Washington school districts, and 

was considered consistent with a team atmosphere. RP 589-92, 1235, 

1277-79. Mr. Shafer got Stanley's permission to ride along on Mario 

Paz's school bus three times over a period of months during the fall of 

2010. RP 1295. In addition to Mario Paz, seven OSD school bus drivers 

testified at trial concerning ride-alongs and/or their impressions of Shafer. 

All denied having seen anything unusual in Shafer's behavior or ride

along frequency. RP 240-94, 315-33 (Dale Thompson); RP 334-59 

(Thomas Reeves); RP 362-92 (Thomas Engle); RP 1105-15 (Kelly 

Cooper); RP 1115-30 (John Bakewell); RP 1240-63 (Jim Wall); RP 1311-

30 (Mai Skillman). Mr. Paz testified that Mr. Shafer had ridden along on 

his school bus no more than three times in the fall of2010, RP 89-93, 107. 

Plaintif-fs retained Mark Whitehill, Ph.D., a forensic psychologist, 

to evaluate NL. Dr. Whitehill's colleague interviewed NL for 30 minutes 

on October 21, 2011 during which NL stated that Mr. Shafer had ridden 

the school bus 20 times. 2 RP 978, 984-85. During Dr. Whitehill's 

testimony, and over the District's objection, Plaintiffs' counsel was 

allowed to show the jury the portion of the videotaped statement of NL 

where she testified that Mr. Shafer rode the school bus 20 times. RP 988. 

Again over the District's objection Dr. Whitehill then testified that NL had 

said "twenty" in response to being asked how many times Shafer was on 

the school bus. RP 990. Dr. Whitehill went on to testify as fact that 

Shafer had ridden the school bus 20 times, which had made his offense 

possible and provided "sufticient opportunities for this process of 

grooming to have occurred." RP 991. Following up on a related juror 

2 On the tape NL says "twenty," and a woman's voice then says: "so you think twenty 
times. So a lot of times he was on that bus too." 
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question, plaintiffs counsel elicited Dr. Whitehill's opinion that NL had 

provided reliable information to Detective Stines based on the videotape 

the jury had seen of Det. Stines' Jan. 4, 2011 interview ofNL. Counsel 

then asked Dr. Whitehill whether the information gathered from NL in his 

colleague's Oct. 21, 2011 interview had also been reliable, and Dr. 

Whitehill responded "we saw that little clip with the twenty ... and that 

seemed to be factually correct." RP 1045-46. 

The trial court permitted Respondent's expert, Mr. McGoey, to 

relate and vouch for the inadmissible hearsay evidence of NL that Gary 

Shafer had ridden her school bus 20 times. RP 667-68. 

Over the District's ER 403 and 404(b) objections, the jury was 

informed that, in May 2011, Det. Stines began investigating charges that 

Shafer had molested a girl on a different OSD kindergarten bus, RP 225-

26, 228, and that he was convicted in June of molesting three kindergarten 

girls, including NL and VMV, on OSD buses and of possessing child 

pornography and is serving 14\12 years to life. Ex. 12, RP 229-30. 

Over hearsay objection by OSD, RP 205-16, the trial court 

permitted Det. Stines to relate statements VV, a six year old, had made to 

her concerning what had happened to her on Mario Paz's school bus, 

ruling that it "goes to the circumstantial evidence related to the 

relationship that apparently he cultivated with these two girls." RP 213. 

Over OSD's hearsay objection, RP 1073, Ms. Gutierrez testified 

that NL had told her, during "a conversation" at some unspecified time 

that "Gary" rode the bus with her "two times a week for a while," and 

"always rode the bus." RP 1073-75. 

The jury returned a verdict of $1,425,000 against the District for 

this single incident. The jury determined that the District should have 

known that Mr. Shafer was likely to harm students despite the fact that the 

-5-



record was devoid of any evidence that Mr. Shafer had acted 

inappropriately toward any student. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. THIS CASE INVOLVES ISSUES OF SIGNIFICANT PUBLIC 

IMPORTANCE AND THE COURT OF APPEALS RULING IS 

INCONSISTENT WITH CURRENT CASE LAW. 

This Petition for Review should be accepted by the Supreme Court 

because ( 1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 

decision of the Supreme Court, (2) the decision of the Court of Appeals is 

in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals, and (3) this 

petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). 

This case involves issues of major public importance to judges and 

lawyers in this state. With the unfortunate increase in sex-abuse cases, 

both civilly and criminally, important evidentiary issues arise that are not 

fully answered with current case law. Sex-abuse cases are difficult, 

emotional and high profile putting enormous pressure on judges, lawyers 

and litigants to protect the rights of the child victim and the accused. This 

case squarely presents to this Court three important issues: 

1. When does the improper admission into evidence of child witness 
hearsay and unrelated criminal convictions constitute "harmless" error? 

2. Can expert witnesses related to the jury and then vouch for the 
accuracy of inadmissible child witness hearsay as part of their expert 
opinion when the hearsay does not meet the existing standards of 
reliability for child witnesses? 

3. Can an investigator (police or otherwise) who is not called as an 
expert witness testify about child hearsay statements that do not meet the 
reliability requirements? 
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This Court should resolve these important evidentiary issues to 

provide guidance to judges, lawyers and litigants in child sex-abuse cases. 

8. THE IMPROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE WAS NOT HARMLESS 

AND DID AFFECT THE JURY'S VERDICT. 

This case presents squarely to the Court the important issue of 

when improperly admitted evidence is prejudicial and when it is harmless. 

The Court of Appeals ruling in this case is inconsistent with cases from 

this Court and the Courts of Appeals on this issue. The evidence allowed 

in this case clearly influenced the jury's verdict and under current case law 

would not be considered "harmless" error. This Court should hear this 

case to determine if the Court of Appeals opinion is inconsistent with 

existing case law. This case presents the Court with an excellent 

opportunity to clarify in child sex-abuse cases, what is prejudicial error 

and what is harmless error. 

A unanimous Court of Appeals ruled that the trial court improperly 

admitted the following evidence: 

1. The videotaped interview of NL wherein she stated that Gary 
Shafer rode the school bus with her 20 times. 

2. The testimony of Ms. Gutierrez (NL's mom) that NL told her 
that Gary Shafer rode the school bus almost always and at least 
twice a week. 

3. Evidence of Gary Shafer's convictions for molesting two other 
kindergarten aged children, VV and TMC. 

4. Evidence of Gary Shafer's conviction for possession of child 
pornography. 

The central liability issue in this case centered on how many times 

Gary Shafer rode this school bus. NL's inadmissible statement was the 

only direct evidence contradicting Mario Paz's testimony that Gary Shafer 
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rode the school bus three times. Not only did the trial court allow the 

video to be played to the jury, it sent the video back to the jury room as a 

separate exhibit permitting the jury to view it again during deliberations. 

This error was compounded when the trial court improperly admitted the 

hearsay testimony of NL's mother that NL told her that Gary Shafer 

almost always rode her bus or rode it twice a week. This was the only 

direct evidence contrary to Mario Paz's testimony that Gary rode the 

school bus only three times. 

The Respondent argued that the District should be held liable 

because Gary Shafer had ridden NL's school bus more than three times, 

probably 20 times, and therefore the District should have been suspicious 

of Shafer's motives. If NL's testimony had not been admitted there was 

little if any evidence to support her liability argument. The trial court then 

delivered the final blow to the District by improperly admitting Gary 

Shafer's convictions of molesting other students on this and other school 

busses and being in possession of child pornography. This objectionable 

evidence certainly aroused the jury's emotions against Shafer and 

ultimately against the District. It is hard to say that this evidence is of 

such minor significance in reference to the overall evidence that it 

constitutes harmless error. State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wash.2d 389, 403, 

945 P.2d 1120, 1127 (1997), citing Nghiem v. State, 73 Wash.App. 405, 

413, 869 P.2d 1086 (1994). The admission of this evidence was not 

harmless as that term was defined by the Supreme Court in In re Det. of 

Pouncy, 168 Wn.2d 382, 391, 229 P.3d 678 (20 l 0): "[A] harmless error is 

an error which is trivial, or formal, or merely academic, and was not 

prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and in no way 

affected the final outcome of the case. " (Emphasis added.) See also State 

v. Britton, 27 Wn.2d 336, 341, 178 P.2d 341 ( 1947)("harmless error ... is 
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trivial, or formal, or merely academic ... and in no way affected the final 

outcome of the trial"). 3 The improperly admitted evidence was the core 

evidence around which Respondent built her liability case. It can hardly 

be considered as trivial, formal or merely academic or that it no way 

affected the outcome of the case. Even the majority in this case admits 

that showing the video of NL making the "twenty times" statement 

"potentially increased the likelihood that the jury would disregard the 

court's limiting instruction and take NL 's statements for the truth of the 

matter asserted." (Slip opinion at 26; Gutierrez v. Olympia School Dist., 

2014 WL 6984636, *14 (2014).) 

The ruling is inconsistent with Day v. Goodwin, 3 Wash.App. 940, 

943, 478 P.2d 774, 776 (1970), rev. denied 79 Wn.2d 1001 (1971); 

Saldivar v. Momah, 145 Wash.App. 365, 401, 186 P.3d 1117, 1136 

(2008), rev. denied 165 Wn.2d I 049, 208 P.3d 555 (2009); Brundridge v. 

Fluor Federal Services, Inc., 164 Wash.2d 432,452, 191 P.3d 879, 891-92 

(2008), and among other cases. The District is not able to find a single 

case dealing with evidence of similar import where the court concluded 

that the admission of the evidence was hannless error. 

The error in admitting child hearsay and criminal convictions in 

this case was not harmless under current case law. That Shafer rode NL's 

kindergarten bus in the fall of 2010 many more than the three times to 

which Mario Paz testified was the pivotal "notice of risk" issue, see RP 

950, and thus was the pivotal liability issue, making it, essentially, an 

element that plaintiff had to prove in order to prevail on her negligence 

When applying the harmless enor rule "the question before a reviewing court is 
never whether the evidence would have been sufficient to justify [the jury verdict], absent 
an error, but, rather, whether the error undermines its confidence in the outcome of the 
proceeding to an unacceptable degree." Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 197, 106 
S.Ct. 2464, 91 L.Ed.2d 144 (1986). (Blackmun, J., dissenting; joined by Brennan, 
Marshall and Stevens, JJ.) 
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claim against OSD. In addition, NL's testimony of 20 times was the 

foundation for Dr. Whitehall's "grooming" theory on damages. The Court 

of Appeals ruling is clearly inconsistent with the Supreme Court and other 

Court of Appeals opinions on the issue. This case presents the Court with 

an excellent opportunity to clarify the parameters of harmless error in civil 

cases thereby providing judges and lawyers further guidance in resolving 

this important issue. 

C. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY PERMIITED EXPERT 

WITNESSES MR. MCGOEY AND DR. WHITEHALL TO RELATE 

TO THE JURY AND TO VOUCH FOR THE CHILD WITNESS N.L. 'S 

TESTrMONY THAT GARY SHAFER RODE THE BUS "TWENTY 

TIMES?" 

With the rise in child sex-abuse cases come ever increasing 

evidentiary arguments on the admissibility of child hearsay. Particularly 

in this case, this Court can clarify the longstanding issue of when and to 

what extent an expert witness can relate to the jury inadmissible hearsay 

that the expert relied upon in arriving at his or her opinions. More 

precisely, when can the expert relate the child victim's hearsay statements 

that are clearly inadmissible and do not meet the established reliability 

criteria pertaining to such statements? This case provides the Court with 

an excellent opportunity to provide judges, lawyers and litigants with clear 

direction about when experts can relate child hearsay in sex-abuse cases. 

The error in admitting the evidence, discussed in previous section, 

was further exacerbated by the trial court's allowing NL's two experts to 

relate her testimony of "twenty times" to the jury and then to vouch for her 

inadmissible testimony. This ruling raises an important evidentiary issue 

that has caused great confbsion to trial lawyers and judges over the years. 

As expert witness testimony becomes more and more common the trial 

judges have to struggle with what evidence an expert can properly "rely" 
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upon and when it is appropriate for the expert to "relate" the inadmissible 

hearsay to the jury. 4 The Court should grant review in this case and 

resolve clearly the issue of when an expert can relate inadmissible hearsay 

upon which they rely and what precisely constitutes "vouching" for a 

witness. 

In this case, both experts for plaintiff not only relied on the child 

witness's inadmissible hearsay but then related NL's hearsay statements to 

the jury and expressed belief in the truth of the inadmissible hearsay. This 

error presents an important evidentiary question to this Court that has 

great public interest. 

Under ER 703, the trial court may not allow an expert to testifY to 

an opinion unless the opinion is supported by "facts or data"5 which the 

expert reasonably relied upon. Walker v. State, 121 Wn.2d 214, 218, 848 

P.2d 721 (1993) (expert opinions Jacking an adequate foundation should 

be excluded). ER 703 allows an expert to form a valid, admissible opinion 

based on evidence that either has not been admitted at trial or that would 

otherwise be inadmissible. However, ER 703 does not make the facts and 

data underlying the opinion admissible. 

That ER 703 permits an expert to rely on evidence that is 

inadmissible does not mean the party calling the expert has the automatic 

right to present the evidence to the jury by having the expert say he relied 

on it. The general principles underlying ER 703 are well established. 

Under settled evidence Jaw, an expert may express an 
opinion that is based on facts that the expert assumes, but 
does not know, to be true. It is then up to the party who 
calls the expert to introduce other evidence establishing the 
facts assumed by the expert. While it was once the practice 

4 This is sometimes referred to as the "rely and relate" rule. 
5 A corollary issue is whether child witness statements even qualify as "facts or data" 
under the mle.

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