91306-4

Received
Washington State Supreme Court

MAR 11 2015

No. 44324-4-II

Ronald R. Carpenter
Clerk

THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ABBIGAIL GUTIERREZ,
individually and as Guardian for NL, a minor,

Respondent,

vs.

OLYMPIA SCHOOL DISTRICT,
a municipal corporation,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO THE DISTRICT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Darrell L. Cochran, WSBA No. 22851
Christopher E. Love, WSBA No. 42832
Counsel for Respondent

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS
AMALA, PLLC
911 Pacific Avenue, Suite 200
Tacoma, Washington 98402
(253) 777-0799

 ORIGINAL

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

passing, conclusory reference to RAP 13.4(b)'s requirements, instead presenting irrelevant arguments on the merits that have already been rejected.

Where the District does briefly discuss the criteria for review, it appears to assert that review of each of the issues raised in its petition is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), and (b)(4). None of these criteria are applicable to the issues raised in the District's petition, however. Review is inappropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2) because none of the Court of Appeals' holdings regarding the harmless nature of evidence erroneously admitted in this particular case or the proper admission of evidence under ER 705 and ER 801(c) conflict with any previous Washington appellate decision cited by the District.

Moreover, the context-dependent nature of the issues raised by the District's petition underscores why review is inappropriate under RAP 13.3(b)(4). The harmless error standard and the evidentiary rules are entirely case-specific and depend upon the context of what occurred at trial. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' holdings regarding harmless error in this case and evidentiary issues, limited as they are to the specific facts of this case, necessarily do not and cannot present an issue of "public importance," much less *substantial* public importance warranting this Court's review.³ Accordingly, the Court should deny the District's petition.

³ Indeed, the Court of Appeals recognized as much when it denied the District's motion to publish the opinion in this case. Appendix B.

A. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (b)(2)

The Court may accept review of a decision of the Court of Appeals if it is in conflict with a decision of this Court or a decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2). Here, not a single previous Washington appellate decision cited in the District's petition is in conflict with the Court of Appeals' holdings in this case regarding (1) the cumulative and harmless nature of the evidence erroneously admitted at trial, (2) the proper admission under ER 705 of NL's "twenty times" statements to explain the basis of Dr. Whitehill's and McGoey's expert opinions, and (3) the proper admission of VV's statements to Detective Stines under ER 801(c).

1. The Court of Appeals' harmless error holdings do not conflict with previous Washington appellate decisions

First, the District contends that the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with this Court's previous statements that "harmless error is an error which is trivial, or formal, or merely academic, and was not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and in no way affected the final outcome of the case." *In re Det. of Pouncey*, 168 Wn.2d 382, 391, 229 P.3d 678 (2010) (quoting *State v. Britton*, 27 Wn.2d 336, 341, 178 P.2d 341 (1947)). But the specific errors reviewed in *In re Pouncey*, 168 Wn.2d at 390-92, and *Britton*, 27 Wn.2d at 341-42, were jury instruction errors. As this Court has made clear, the particular harmless error standard applied in *In re Pouncey* and *Britton* applies to erroneous jury instructions: "**An erroneous jury instruction is harmless** if it is 'not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the part[ies] . . . , and in

no way affected the final outcome of the case.” *Blaney v. International Ass'n of Machinists and Aerospace Workers, Dist. No. 160*, 151 Wn.2d 203, 211, 87 P.3d 757 (2004) (emphasis added); *see also State v. Wanrow*, 88 Wn.2d 221, 237, 559 P.2d 548 (1977).

Here, the issues raised by the District in its petition involve evidentiary errors, not instructional errors. Evidentiary errors are harmless unless “it was reasonably probable that it changed the outcome of the trial.” *Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc.*, 164 Wn.2d 432, 452, 191 P.3d 879 (2008); *accord State v. Benn*, 161 Wn.2d 256, 266 n. 4, 165 P.3d 1232 (2007). The Court of Appeals applied this well-settled standard to these issues. *Gutierrez*, 2014 WL 6984636 at *24-25. Thus, there is no conflict with previous Washington appellate decisions.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals’ held that the improperly admitted evidence in this case—the short video clip of NL making her “twenty times” statement, Gutierrez’s testimony regarding NL’s statements about how frequently Shafer rode her bus, and Shafer’s convictions for molesting two other kindergarten girls and possession of child pornography—was merely cumulative of other, properly-admitted evidence that Shafer rode NL’s bus on multiple occasions and otherwise painting him in a bad light. *Id.* at *25. These holdings are consistent with well-settled Washington law that the improper admission of evidence is harmless when it is merely cumulative of other properly-admitted evidence. *Brown v. Spokane County Fire Protection Dist. No. 1*, 100 Wn.2d 188, 196, 668 P.2d 571 (1983); *see also Miller v. Arctic Alaska*

Fisheries Corp., 133 Wn.2d 250, 261, 944 P.2d 1005 (1997) (citing Dennis J. Sweeney, *An Analysis Of Harmless Error in Washington: A Principled Process*, 31 Gonz. L. Revv. 277 (1995), at 319).⁴ Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' harmless error holdings were entirely consistent with Washington precedent.

Finally, the District cites a number of Washington appellate decisions—all without any supporting argument or explanation—to support its conclusory statement that the Court of Appeals' harmless error holdings are “inconsistent” with these cases.⁵ This court does not consider conclusory arguments. RAP 10.3(a)(6), .4; *see also* RAP 13.4(e) (“The petition . . . should comply with the requirements as to form for a brief as provided in rules 10.3 and 10.4.”). “Such ‘[p]assing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration.’” *West v. Thurston County*, 168 Wn. App. 162, 187, 275 P.3d 1200 (2012) (quoting *Holland v. City of Tacoma*, 90 Wn. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290 (1998)). The Court should strike or otherwise refuse to consider this portion of the District's petition.⁶ Thus, no conflict exists

⁴ Notably, the District fails to mention the cumulative nature of the improperly admitted evidence, which was the primary basis for the Court of Appeals' harmless error holdings.

⁵ Petition for Review at 9.

⁶ Even if the Court considered this portion of the District's petition, the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with any of the cited cases. In *Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc.*, 164 Wn.2d 432, 452, 191 P.3d 879 (2008), this Court held that the erroneous admission of an OSHA investigator's hearsay report was harmless because, “[e]ven without the added credibility from the OSHA investigator,” the jury had heard “other safety and retaliation testimony” and “would likely have reached the same conclusion.” 164 Wn.2d at 452. As in *Brundridge*, in this case, even without any theoretical added “credibility” from the video clip of NL's “twenty times” statement or Gutierrez's testimony regarding NL's statements about how many times Shafer rode NL's bus, the jury heard other evidence from which it likely would have reached the same conclusion that Shafer rode NL's bus numerous times and that the unusual nature and frequency of

between the Court of Appeals' harmless holdings in this case and these previous decisions, and review of these holdings is unwarranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2).

2. The Court of Appeals' holding in this case regarding the proper admission under ER 705 of facts on which expert witnesses based their opinions does not conflict with previous Washington appellate decisions

Second, the District asserts that the Court of Appeals' holdings that (1) the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting under ER 705 testimony by Dr. Whitehill and McGoey regarding certain facts on which their expert opinions were based—namely, NL's "twenty times" statement—and (2) the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting such testimony without first considering ER 403 conflict with previous Washington appellate decisions. But no such conflict exists.

First, it is well-settled Washington precedent that "ER 703 permits an expert to base his or her own expert opinion on facts or data that are not otherwise admissible provided that they are of a type reasonably relied on

his bus ride alongs in general provided constructive notice to the District of his potential risk of harm to students.

On the other hand, *Saldivar v. Momah*, 145 Wn. App. 401, 186 P.3d 1117 (2008), is distinguishable. There, the Court of Appeals held that the improper *exclusion* of a witness's prior consistent statements was not harmless error where the trial court dismissed the plaintiff's claims on the trial court's *specific* finding that the plaintiff's testimony was not credible, thus putting her credibility directly at issue. *Saldivar*, 145 Wn. App. at 383-384, 401. Likewise, *Day v. Goodwin*, 3 Wn. App. 940, 943, 478 P.2d 774 (1970), is inapposite. In *Day*, the Court of Appeals held that the improper admission of some witnesses' prior inconsistent hearsay statements to impeach the trial testimony of those same witnesses was not harmless error within the context of the specific issues and evidence of that trial. Unlike in *Saldivar* or *Day*, the District does not claim prejudice by the improper *exclusion* of evidence. And, unlike in *Day*, the improperly admitted hearsay statements by NL was consistent with other evidence at trial and was not offered to impeach prior testimony by NL. Indeed, this Court previously relied on the same rationale in distinguishing *Day*. *Brown*, 100 Wn.2d at 196 (*Day* was distinguishable where improperly admitted evidence "was consistent with the testimony at trial and not used for impeachment purposes.").

by experts in the particular field.” *In re Det. of Marshall*, 156 Wn.2d 150, 162, 125 P.3d 111 (2005). Likewise, it is well-settled under Washington law that, under ER 705, “[a] trial court may allow an expert to reveal the underlying basis for her opinion if doing so will help the jury understand the expert’s opinion . . . even if the information would be inadmissible as substantive evidence.” *In re Det. of Coe*, 175 Wn.2d 482, 513, 286 P.3d 29 (2012).⁷

As the Court of Appeals observed in its decision, Dr. Whitehill and McGoey both testified that “in reaching their opinions, experts in their respective fields routinely rely on victims’ statements.” *Gutierrez*, 2014 WL 6984636 at *11; RP 673, 983-84. And the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s ruling that NL’s statements were admissible under ER 705 for the limited purpose of explaining the basis of Dr. Whitehill’s and McGoey’s expert opinions. *Id.* at *11-12. The District fails to identify a single Washington appellate decision in conflict with these principles.⁸ Accordingly, review is unwarranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) or (b)(3).

⁷ See also *Marshall*, 156 Wn.2d at 162, 125 P.3d 111 (2005); *GroupHealth Co-op of Puget Sound v. Dep’t of Rev.*, 106 Wn.2d 391, 399, 722 P.2d 787 (1986).

⁸ The District does argue without any citation to supporting or conflicting legal authority that McGoey did not actually rely on NL’s “twenty times” statements in forming his specific opinions, again improperly arguing the merits of the trial court’s decision. Petition at 13. More importantly, the District fails to inform the Court that the Court of Appeals held that the District waived any such arguments by raising them for the first time in its reply brief. *Gutierrez*, 2014 WL 6984636 at *11 n. 4; see also RAP 10.3(c); *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (issues and argument raised for the first time in a reply brief are untimely and waived). The District does not challenge the Court of Appeals’ waiver holding. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals’ waiver holding must stand. *Shumway*, 136 Wn.2d at 392-93, 964 P.2d 349 (1998); see also *Honcoop*, 111 Wn.2d at 193; *Clam Shacks*, 109 Wn.2d at 98. Thus, the District should not be permitted to inject into its petition issues and arguments that were not properly raised before the Court of Appeals, and the Court should strike or otherwise ignore the portions of the District’s petition arguing that McGoey did not actually rely on NL’s statements in forming his opinion.

Second, the District contends that the Court of Appeals' holding that the trial court did not err by admitting this testimony under ER 705 without first performing an ER 403 balancing test conflicts with its previous holding in *State v. Martinez*, 78 Wn. App. 870, 879, 899 P.2d 1302 (1995), that a trial court "must" perform such a balancing test. However, the Court of Appeals observed that its previous statement in *Martinez* that a trial court "should" perform an ER 403 balancing test "hardly establishes that a trial court commits reversible error by failing to" do so. *Gutierrez*, 2014 WL 6984636 at *13. In other words, "should" does not mean "must," as the District contends. More importantly, the Court of Appeals observed that the District did not object under ER 403 to this testimony at trial, and, thus, waived further consideration of the issue. The District's petition does not seek review of the Court of Appeals' waiver holding. Thus, the Court of Appeals holding that the District waived appellate review of this issue must stand, and this Court should strike or otherwise ignore the portions of the Districts' petition addressing it.⁹

3. The Court of Appeals' holding in this case affirming the admission of VV's statements to Detective Stines under ER

⁹ Even if the Court did consider the District's argument, however, this Court has clearly stated the requirements for admitting evidence under ER 703 and 705, and an ER 403 balancing is not among them. "The trial court *need only* give an appropriate limiting instruction explaining that the jury is not to consider this revealed information as substantive evidence." *Coe*, 175 Wn.2d at 513-14 (emphasis added). Here, before the jury heard evidence about NL's "twenty times" statements, the trial court gave limiting instructions that were materially identical to the one provided in *Coe*. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the admission of this evidence subject to the *Coe* limiting instruction does not conflict with previous Washington appellate decisions.

801(c) does not conflict with previous Washington appellate decisions

Finally, the District contends that the Court of Appeals' holding in this case affirming the admission of VV's statements to Detective Stines conflicts with previous Washington appellate decisions. But the Court of Appeals held that these statements were admissible under ER 801(c) as out-of-court statements offered for a purpose other than their truth and, thus, were not hearsay. The District cites no cases conflicting with this holding, instead offering only conclusory arguments, a straw man argument built around ER 803(a) hearsay objections, and a straw man argument built around ER 705. Accordingly, review of this holding is not warranted under either RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (b)(2).

B. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

The District contends that the Court of Appeals' holdings that the trial court committed harmless error by its admission of certain evidence and that the trial court properly admitted certain evidence under ER 705 and ER 801(c) involve issues of "substantial public importance" warranting review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). But the District's contention is self-defeating. Such holdings are necessarily contingent on the full context of the lengthy trial and voluminous evidence adduced in this specific case. Limited as they are to the specific facts of this case, no issues of substantial public interest can exist.

Although this Court has not strictly defined what an "issue of substantial public interest" means for purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(4), it has provided examples of such issues. In *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574,

577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (emphasis added), a case involving sentencing of drug offenders, the Court stated:

This case presents a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals holding, while affecting parties to this proceeding, **also has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue.**

Unlike in *Watson*, here the Court of Appeals' challenged holdings have no potential to affect proceedings outside this case. The Court of Appeals' holdings regarding harmless evidentiary error are contingent on the specific context of the trial in this case, as demonstrated by the applicable harmless error standard: "whether 'within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of *the* trial would have been materially affected.'" *Benn*, 161 Wn.2d at 266 n. 4, 165 P.3d 1232 (2007) (quoting *State v. Neal*, 144 Wn.2d 600, 611, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001)) (emphasis added).

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